

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Zinc for prevention and treatment of the common cold (Protocol)

Wieland LS, Hamel C, Konstantinidis M, Nourouzpour S, Shipper AG, Lipski E

Wieland LS, Hamel C, Konstantinidis M, Nourouzpour S, Shipper AG, Lipski E. Zinc for prevention and treatment of the common cold (Protocol). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2021, Issue 9. Art. No.: CD014914. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD014914.

www.cochranelibrary.com

Zinc for prevention and treatment of the common cold (Protocol) Copyright © 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
BACKGROUND	2
OBJECTIVES	2
METHODS	2
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
REFERENCES	6
ADDITIONAL TABLES	7
APPENDICES	8
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	8
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	8
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	9



[Intervention Protocol]

Zinc for prevention and treatment of the common cold

L Susan Wieland¹, Candyce Hamel², Menelaos Konstantinidis^{3,4}, Sahar Nourouzpour⁵, Andrea G Shipper⁶, Elizabeth Lipski⁷

¹Center for Integrative Medicine, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, Maryland, USA. ²Ottawa Hospital Research Institute, Ottawa, Canada. ³Division of Biostatistics, Dalla Lana School of Public Health, University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada. ⁴Child Health Evaluative Sciences, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, Canada. ⁵Toronto General Hospital, UHN, Toronto, Canada. ⁶Health Sciences and Human Services Library, University of Maryland, Baltimore, Baltimore, MD, USA. ⁷Maryland University of Integrative Health, Laurel, Maryland, USA

Contact address: L Susan Wieland, swieland@som.umaryland.edu.

Editorial group: Cochrane Acute Respiratory Infections Group. **Publication status and date:** New, published in Issue 9, 2021.

Citation: Wieland LS, Hamel C, Konstantinidis M, Nourouzpour S, Shipper AG, Lipski E. Zinc for prevention and treatment of the common cold (Protocol). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2021, Issue 9. Art. No.: CD014914. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD014914.

Copyright © 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Objectives

This is a protocol for a Cochrane Review (intervention). The objectives are as follows:

To assess the effectiveness and safety of zinc for the prevention and treatment of the common cold.



BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

The common cold is an acute, self-limiting respiratory illness characterised by several symptoms including nasal congestion, nasal mucus discharge, sneezing, sore throat, cough, and general malaise. The common cold is generally considered to be caused by viruses (e.g. some common rhinoviruses and coronaviruses). However, there is no minimum level or specific combination of symptoms that defines a cold, and viruses are often but not always detected in people exhibiting symptoms (Mäkelä 1998). The most bothersome symptoms of a cold may be sore throat on the first day, followed by nasal congestion and then cough on the following days (Witek 2015). These symptoms overlap with other conditions such as allergy, tonsillitis, and lower respiratory tract infection, therefore the diagnosis is partly one of exclusion and is generally based on a global clinical assessment by the patient or a healthcare provider. Whilst colds are generally limited in severity and duration, and do not lead to serious health outcomes such as hospitalisation, they do occur frequently at any time of year, and everyone is vulnerable to colds. It is estimated that children average between six and 10 colds per year, whilst adults average between two and four colds per year, thus the common cold is a public health burden (IQWiG 2020). Colds impact daily life and are a major cause of lost work productivity and school absenteeism (Dicpinigaitis 2015).

Description of the intervention

Zinc is an essential trace mineral for which the human body has no specialised storage mechanism (Rink 2000). Regular intake of small amounts is therefore necessary for the maintenance of health and optimal physiological functioning. Zinc is naturally present in some foods (e.g. red meat); is sometimes added to other foods (e.g. cereals may be fortified with zinc); and may be taken as an over-the-counter dietary supplement. According to the US Institute of Medicine (IOM), the Recommended Dietary Allowance (RDA) for adults is 8 mg/day for women and 11 mg/day for men, whilst the Tolerable Upper Intake Level (UL) for adults is 40 mg/day (IOM 2001). The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that 31% of the world's population is at risk for zinc deficiency, a percentage that ranges between 4% and 73% in different regions of the world and is higher in low-income countries (Caulfield 2004). People who eat vegetarian or vegan diets, the elderly, and people who suffer from conditions causing poor zinc absorption or high zinc loss are also at risk (Maares 2020). The consequences of severe, moderate, and even marginal zinc deficiency are seen in multiple body systems, including immune function (Prasad 2020).

Zinc supplements exist in several forms, including zinc gluconate, zinc sulfate, zinc acetate, zinc carnosine, and zinc picolinate, which vary in percentages of elemental zinc. The bioavailability of zinc is affected by the form of zinc, whether zinc is included in a meal or alone as a supplement, and by zinc levels in the body (Maares 2020).

Whilst many people believe that zinc may be helpful in preventing or treating colds, there is currently no established intervention to prevent colds or to shorten their duration (IQWiG 2020). The risk of developing a cold can be reduced by avoiding contact with other people who have colds, and cold symptoms can be treated with over-the-counter medications such as nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), antihistamines, and decongestants, although these medications have potential side effects and contraindications (Harvard Health Letter 2014). The safety and efficacy of zinc for the prevention and treatment of colds is therefore of ongoing interest.

How the intervention might work

There are two main biologically plausible mechanisms for the potential effects of zinc on the common cold: 1) zinc may improve immune function (Maares 2016); and 2) zinc may interfere with the binding and replication of viruses involved in colds (Hulisz 2004; Read 2019). The mechanisms of zinc delivered by tablets, capsules, or syrups may differ from those of zinc delivered as lozenges (which are held and dissolved in the mouth, coating the tongue and throat) and those of zinc delivered as sprays or gels (which coat the nasal mucosa).

Why it is important to do this review

Given the frequency and impact of common colds (Dicpinigaitis 2015), reducing the incidence, duration, or severity of colds would benefit public health. Zinc is a popular supplement often recommended to reduce the duration of the common cold. However, uncertainty remains surrounding overall effectiveness, and the influence of different forms, dosages, and delivery methods for different populations. Meanwhile, there is concern about the potential for permanent anosmia from intranasal zinc (D'Cruze 2009). Several previous systematic reviews have investigated zinc for the treatment or prevention of the common cold (D'Cruze 2009; Hemilä 2011; Hemila 2015; Hemila 2016; Hemila 2017a; Hemila 2017b; Jackson 1997; Moshtagh 2020; Science 2012; Wang 2020). However, Cochrane Reviews on this topic are no longer current (Marshall 2007; Singh 2015). New randomised controlled trials have been published since the most recent systematic review (Hemila 2020). It is important to incorporate the latest information about the potential benefits and harms of this popular intervention into a methodologically rigorous and up-to-date review of the evidence.

OBJECTIVES

To assess the effectiveness and safety of zinc for the prevention and treatment of the common cold.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

We will include randomised controlled trials (RCTs). We will exclude studies using quasi-randomisation because they are susceptible to selection bias. We will include studies reported as full text, those published as abstracts only, and unpublished data. We will include studies in any language.

Types of participants

We will include studies in adults and children. To assess the prevention of the common cold, we will include participants without a diagnosis of the common cold who are being followed to detect development of the common cold. We will include both naturalistic studies and challenge studies of prevention. To assess treatment of the common cold, we will include participants with a clinical diagnosis of the common cold (i.e. acute viral rhinopharyngitis), either naturally or experimentally induced. We will exclude participants with diagnoses commonly resulting from other viruses (e.g. influenza) or commonly a result of bacterial infections (e.g. sinus infections).

Types of interventions

cochrane

We will include trials comparing zinc interventions with placebo. We will also include trials comparing zinc plus any other intervention versus placebo plus the same other intervention. We will include any form (e.g. zinc gluconate, zinc acetate, zinc citrate), delivery method (e.g. intranasal, tablet, lozenge), duration, and dose of zinc. We will exclude zinc interventions in which zinc is combined with other minerals, vitamins, or herbs (e.g. a multivitamin, or mineral supplement containing zinc).

Types of outcome measures

We will collect information on the following outcomes. We will not use the presence or absence of specific outcomes as eligibility criteria for the inclusion of studies.

Primary outcomes

- 1. Proportion of participants developing colds (for analyses of prevention trials only), with colds as defined by each study.
- 2. Duration of cold (measured in days from start to resolution of the cold, as defined by each study).
- 3. Adverse events potentially due to zinc supplements (e.g. unpleasant taste, loss of smell, vomiting, stomach cramps, and diarrhoea).
- 4. Adverse events considered to be potential complications of the common cold (e.g. respiratory bacterial infections).

Secondary outcomes

- 1. Global severity of the cold using a global measure if available (e.g. visual analogue scale (VAS)), or by summing severity scores for individual symptoms.
- 2. Severity of individual cold symptoms (e.g. nasal congestion) measured on a scale.
- 3. Duration of individual cold symptoms (e.g. nasal congestion) measured in days from start to resolution of symptoms.
- 4. Days missed from work or school.

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

We will search the following databases from inception to present.

- 1. The Cochrane ARI group Trials Register (search via the Cochrane Register of Studies to date).
- 2. The Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) (search via the Cochrane Register of Studies to date).
- 3. MEDLINE (PubMed) (from 1946 to present).
- 4. Embase (from 1947 to present).
- 5. CINAHL (Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature) (EBSCOhost) (from 1981 to present).
- 6. LILACS (Latin American and Caribbean Health Science Information database) (from 1985 to present).

- 7. Web of Science Core Collection:
 - a. Science Citation Index Expanded (SCI-EXPANDED) (from 1900 to present).
 - b. Social Sciences Citation Index (SSCI) (from 1900 to present).
 - c. Arts & Humanities Citation Index (AHCI) (from 1975 to present)
 - d. Conference Proceedings Citation Index Science (CPCI-S) (from 1990 to present).
 - e. Conference Proceedings Citation Index Social Science & Humanities (CPCI-SSH) (from 1990 to present).
 - f. Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI) (from 2005 present).

We will use Peer Review of Electronic Search Strategies (PRESS) to peer review the search strategy described in Appendix 1 for searching MEDLINE (McGowan 2016). We will combine the peer-reviewed MEDLINE search with the Cochrane Highly Sensitive Search Strategy for randomised trials: sensitivity and precision-maximising version (2008 revision) (Lefebvre 2019).

We will also conduct a search of ClinicalTrials.gov (www.clinicaltrials.gov) and the World Health Organization International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (WHO ICTRP) (apps.who.int/trialsearch/). We will not impose any language or publication restrictions.

Searching other resources

We will check the reference lists of all relevant review articles identified through our electronic searches for additional studies. We will check reference lists of all primary studies for additional references. We will contact experts in the field to identify any additional unpublished material.

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

Two review authors (LSW, CH) will independently screen the titles and abstracts of all studies identified as a result of the searches for inclusion in the review. We will retrieve the full-text study reports/publication for those studies deemed relevant based on the title and abstract, and two review authors (LSW, CH, or SN) will independently and in duplicate screen the full texts and identify studies for inclusion based on the a priori defined eligibility criteria, and identify and record reasons for exclusion of the ineligible studies. Any disagreements will be resolved through discussion or by consulting a third review author (MK or EL) if necessary. If information about relevant inclusion and exclusion criteria in the study report is unclear, we will attempt to contact study authors for clarification. We will identify and exclude duplicates, and collate multiple reports of the same study so that each study, rather than each report, is the unit of interest in the review. We will record the selection process in sufficient detail to complete a PRISMA flow diagram and 'Characteristics of excluded studies' table (Moher 2009).

Data extraction and management

We will use a data collection form for study characteristics and outcome data which has been piloted on at least one study in the review. One review author (LSW) will extract study characteristics from the included studies. We will extract the following study characteristics.

Zinc for prevention and treatment of the common cold (Protocol)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$ 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

- 1. Methods: study design, total duration of study, details of any 'run in' period, number of study centres and location, study setting, withdrawals, and date of study.
- 2. Participants: N, mean age, age range, gender, severity of condition, diagnostic criteria for the common cold, baseline zinc status and how this was measured, smoking history, and inclusion and exclusion criteria.
- 3. Interventions: intervention, comparison, concomitant medications, and excluded medications.
- 4. Outcomes: primary and secondary outcomes specified and collected, and time points reported.
- 5. Notes: funding for trial and notable conflicts of interest of trial authors.

Two review authors (LSW, MK) will independently and in duplicate extract outcome data from the included studies. We will note in the 'Characteristics of included studies' table (see Table 1) if outcome data are not reported in a useable way. Any disagreements will be resolved by consensus or by involving a third review author (CH or SN). One review author (LSW) will transfer data into the Review Manager Web file (RevMan Web 2020). We will double-check that data are entered correctly by comparing the data presented in the systematic review with the study reports. A second review author (SN or EL) will spot-check study characteristics for accuracy against the trial report. For relevant analyses, one review author (MK) will transfer the data into R (R Core Team 2021).

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

Two review authors (LSW, CH) will independently and in duplicate assess the risk of bias for each study using the criteria outlined in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2019). Any disagreements will be resolved by discussion or by involving another review author (MK or SN). We will assess risk of bias according to the following domains.

- 1. Random sequence generation.
- 2. Allocation concealment.
- 3. Blinding of participants and personnel.
- 4. Blinding of outcome assessment.
- 5. Incomplete outcome data.
- 6. Selective outcome reporting.
- 7. Other bias.

We will rate each potential source of bias as low, high, or unclear, and provide a quote from the study report together with a justification for our judgement in the risk of bias table. We will summarise the risk of bias judgements across different studies for each of the domains listed. We will consider blinding and incomplete outcome data separately for different key outcomes where necessary. Where information on risk of bias relates to unpublished data or correspondence with a trialist, we will note this in the risk of bias table.

When considering treatment effects, we will take into account the risk of bias for the studies that contribute to that outcome.

Assessment of bias in conducting the systematic review

We will conduct the review according to this published protocol, and report any deviations from it in the 'Differences between protocol and review' section of the review.

Measures of treatment effect

We will enter the outcome data for each study into the data tables in Review Manager Web to calculate the treatment effects (RevMan Web 2020). We will use risk ratios (RR) for dichotomous outcomes and mean differences (MD) for continuous outcomes on the same scale. For continuous outcomes where different scales measure the same underlying construct (e.g. severity of a symptom), we will use standardised mean differences (SMD). We will report 95% confidence intervals (CI) for all effects.

We will undertake meta-analyses only where this is meaningful, that is if the treatments, participants, and the underlying clinical question are similar enough for pooling to make sense. Because the likely mechanisms and potential adverse effects of oral and intranasal zinc differ, we will analyse trials of oral zinc (including tablets, capsules, syrups, or lozenges) separately from trials of intranasal zinc (including sprays or gels). If statistical pooling is not appropriate, we will produce a narrative summary.

Unit of analysis issues

We do not expect to find relevant studies with non-standard designs (e.g. cross-over or cluster-randomised trials). However, if we find otherwise eligible studies employing these designs, we will follow the guidance in Chapter 23 of the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2019). Since cross-over trials are most suitable for trials on the treatment of stable, chronic conditions, we will analyse only the first period of any identified cross-over trials. For cluster-randomised trials, we will ensure that our analyses take into account that the unit of allocation is the cluster rather than the individual participant.

Dealing with missing data

We will contact investigators or study sponsors to verify key study characteristics and to obtain missing numerical outcome data where possible (e.g. when a study is identified as abstract only). We will note all attempts to contact trialists, and the results of these attempts, in the 'Characteristics of studies' table for that study. If numerical outcome data are missing, such as standard deviations (SD) or correlation coefficients, and we are unable to obtain these from the trial authors, we will calculate them from other available statistics, such as P values, according to the methods described in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2019). If these values cannot be estimated, we will discuss the impact of the missing data in the Discussion section.

For each outcome, we will conduct our analyses to the greatest degree possible using the intention-to-treat (ITT) principle. We will define the denominator as the number randomised minus any participants whose outcome is known to be missing. We will identify the levels of attrition, and explore the impact of excluding studies with attrition of 20% or greater on the overall assessment of results by a sensitivity analysis.

Assessment of heterogeneity

We will assess and measure the presence and extent of betweenstudy variation (heterogeneity) in each meta-analysis (Higgins 2019). We will use the Chi² test to assess whether the observed variation between effect estimates is compatible with chance alone (P < 0.10), and the I² statistic to describe the percentage of the variability in effect estimates due to heterogeneity rather than

Zinc for prevention and treatment of the common cold (Protocol) Copyright © 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

chance. We will consider an I² statistic of 50% or higher as indicative of substantial heterogeneity. We recognise that the I² measurement must be interpreted in the context of the size and direction of effect estimates and the evidence of the existence of heterogeneity, and that there is uncertainty in the I² measurement when there are few studies in a meta-analysis (Higgins 2019). If we identify substantial heterogeneity, we will report it and explore possible causes for it by prespecified subgroup analysis.

Assessment of reporting biases

If we are able to pool more than 10 trials, we will create and examine a funnel plot to explore possible small-study and publication biases. We will also investigate discrepancies between reporting in studies and their corresponding protocols as a source of publication bias.

Data synthesis

We will pool data from studies that we judge to be clinically homogeneous using Review Manager Web software (RevMan Web 2020). We will perform a meta-analysis if more than one study provides useable data for any single comparison. For analyses in which a single time point is present, we will use the random-effects model to carry out meta-analyses because we expect variation in participants, settings, interventions, and measurement of outcomes such that a fixed-effect model would not be appropriate. For outcomes with multiple time points, we will use a mixed-effects meta-analysis, the implementation of which will be guided by past works (Ishak 2007; Musekiwa 2016; Sera 2019). Specific implementations will be guided by model parsimony and model information (i.e. the Akaike Information Criterion).

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

We consider the following factors to be potential causes of heterogeneity in the effects of the intervention: formulation, form, and dose of the zinc intervention; the presence of intervention components that may reduce the bioavailability of zinc; the presence of zinc deficiency amongst participants; and the age (children, adults, elderly) of participants. We plan to carry out the following subgroup analyses for the primary outcomes in the case of sufficient data:

- different oral formulations of product (i.e. syrup versus capsules or tablets versus lozenges);
- 2. different forms of zinc (e.g. zinc gluconate, zinc acetate, zinc citrate);
- 3. different doses of zinc (e.g. < 75 mg versus 75 mg or higher);
- zinc interventions with and without components that are thought to potentially reduce bioavailability of zinc (e.g. mannitol or sorbitol, citric acid);
- 5. different participant age groups (e.g. age < 18, adults 18 to 65, age > 65); and
- 6. participants with and without zinc deficiency at baseline.

We will not require a minimum number of studies to prepare forest plots comparing subgroups. We will use the Chi² test to test for subgroup interactions in Review Manager Web when there are at least 10 trials overall and at least two trials in each subgroup (RevMan Web 2020).

Sensitivity analysis

We plan to explore the robustness of effect estimates by carrying out the following sensitivity analyses, if sufficient data are available.

- 1. Excluding trials with high or unclear risk of selection bias (i.e. random sequence generation or allocation concealment, or both).
- 2. Excluding trials with 20% or greater attrition.
- 3. Using endpoint outcome data versus change outcome data.
- 4. Using adjusted outcome data versus unadjusted outcome data.

Summary of findings and assessment of the certainty of the evidence

We will create a summary of findings table for prevention and a summary of findings table for treatment, using the following outcomes: proportion of participants developing colds (for analyses of prevention trials only); duration of colds; global severity of colds; adverse events potentially due to zinc supplements; and adverse events considered to be potential complications of the common cold. We will use the five GRADE considerations (study limitations, consistency of effect, imprecision, indirectness, and publication bias) to assess the quality of a body of evidence as it relates to the studies which contribute data to the metaanalyses for the prespecified outcomes (Atkins 2004). We will use the methods and recommendations described in Section 8.5 and Chapter 12 of the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions (Higgins 2019), employing GRADEpro GDT software (GRADEpro GDT). We will justify all decisions to down- or upgrade the quality of studies using footnotes, and will make comments to aid the reader's understanding of the review where necessary.

We will describe the overall strength of the evidence, implications for further research, clinical importance of the results, impact of contextual factors, and considerations of equity in summarising and discussing the results of the review.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Methods section of this protocol is based on a standard template developed by the Cochrane Airways Group and adapted by the Cochrane Acute Respiratory Infections Group. We gratefully acknowledge helpful comments on the protocol from the following peer reviewers: Professor Craig Mellis, University of Sydney, NSW, Australia; Professor Timothy Kenealy, Dept of Medicine and Dept of General Practice and Primary Health Care, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand; Professor Robert Ware; Dr M Dulce Estêvão, School of Health, University of Algarve, Portugal; and Associate Professor Johannes van der Wouden.



REFERENCES

Additional references

Atkins 2004

Atkins D, Best D, Briss PA, Eccles M, Falck-Ytter Y, Flottorp S, et al, GRADE Working Group. Grading quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. *BMJ* 2004;**328**(7454):1490.

Caulfield 2004

Caulfield LE, Black RE. Chapter 5: Zinc deficiency. In: Comparative Quantification of Health Risks: Global and Regional Burden of Disease Attributable to Selected Major Risk Factors. Vol. **1**. World Health Organization, 2004:257–80.

D'Cruze 2009

D'Cruze H, Arroll B, Kenealy T. Is intranasal zinc effective and safe for the common cold? A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Journal of Primary Health Care* 2009;**1**(2):134-9.

Dicpinigaitis 2015

Dicpinigaitis PV, Eccles R, Blaiss MS, Wingertzahn MA. Impact of cough and common cold on productivity, absenteeism, and daily life in the United States: ACHOO Survey. *Current Medical Research and Opinion* 2015;**31**(8):1519-25. [PMID: 26073933]

GRADEpro GDT [Computer program]

McMaster University (developed by Evidence Prime) GRADEpro GDT. Version accessed 1 March 2021. Hamilton (ON): McMaster University (developed by Evidence Prime). Available at gradepro.org.

Harvard Health Letter 2014

Harvard Health Letter. Could a cold remedy make you sicker? www.health.harvard.edu/staying-healthy/could-a-cold-remedymake-you-sicker (accessed 1 March 2021).

Hemilä 2011

Hemilä H. Zinc lozenges may shorten the duration of colds: a systematic review. *Open Respiratory Medical Journal* 2011;**5**:51-8.

Hemila 2015

Hemila H, Chalker E. The effectiveness of high dose zinc acetate lozenges on various common cold symptoms: a meta-analysis. *BMC Family Practice* 2015;**16**:24.

Hemila 2016

Hemila H, Petrus EJ, Fitzgerald JT, Prasad A. Zinc acetate lozenges for treating the common cold: an individual patient data meta-analysis. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 2016;**82**(5):1393-8.

Hemila 2017a

Hemila H. Zinc lozenges and the common cold: a metaanalysis comparing zinc acetate and zinc gluconate, and the role of zinc dosage. *JRSM Open* 2017;**8**(5):1-7. [DOI: 10.1177/2054270417694291]

Hemila 2017b

Hemila H, Fitzgerald JT, Petrus EJ, Prasad A. Zinc acetate lozenges may improve the recovery rate of common cold patients: an individual patient data meta-analysis. *Open Forum Infectious Diseases* 2017;**4**(2):ofx059.

Hemila 2020

Hemila H, Haukka J, Alho M, Vahtera J, Kivimaki M. Zinc acetate lozenges for the treatment of the common cold: a randomised controlled trial. *BMJ Open* 2020;**10**(1):e031662.

Higgins 2019

Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch V, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.0 (updated July 2019). Cochrane, 2019. Available from training.cochrane.org/handbook/archive/ v6.

Hulisz 2004

Hulisz D. Efficacy of zinc against common cold viruses: an overview. *Journal of the American Pharmacists Association: JAPhA* 2004;**44**(5):594-603. [PMID: 15496046]

IOM 2001

Institute of Medicine. Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin A, Vitamin K, Arsenic, Boron, Chromium, Copper, Iodine, Iron, Manganese, Molybdenum, Nickel, Silicon, Vanadium, and Zinc. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 2001. [DOI: 10.17226/10026] [PMID: 25057538]

IQWiG 2020

Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care (IQWiG). Common colds: overview. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK279543/ (accessed 1 February 2021).

Ishak 2007

Ishak KJ, Platt RW, Joseph L, Hanley JA, Caro JJ. Meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Clinical Trials* 2007;**4**:525-39.

Jackson 1997

Jackson JL, Peterson C, Lesho E. A meta-analysis of zinc salts lozenges and the common cold. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 1997;**157**(20):2373-6.

Lefebvre 2019

Lefebvre C, Glanville J, Briscoe S, Littlewood A, Marshall C, Metzendorf M-I, et al. Chapter 4: Searching for and selecting studies. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.0 (updated July 2019). Cochrane, 2019. Available from training.cochrane.org/ handbook/archive/v6.

Maares 2016

Maares M, Haase H. Zinc and immunity: an essential interrelation. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 2016;**611**:58-65. [PMID: 27021581]

Zinc for prevention and treatment of the common cold (Protocol) Copyright © 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Maares 2020

Maares M, Haase H. A guide to human zinc absorption: general overview and recent advances of in vitro intestinal models. *Nutrients* 2020;**12**(3):1-43. [PMID: 32183116]

Mäkelä 1998

Mäkelä MJ, Puhakka T, Ruuskanen O, Leinonen M, Saikku P, Kimpimäki M, et al. Viruses and bacteria in the etiology of the common cold. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 1998;**36**(2):539-42. [PMID: 9466772]

Marshall 2007

Marshall I. WITHDRAWN: Zinc for the common cold. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2007, Issue 3. Art. No: CD001364. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001364.pub2]

McGowan 2016

McGowan J, Sampson M, Salzwedel DM, Cogo E, Foerster V, Lefebvre C. PRESS peer review of electronic search strategies: 2015 guideline statement. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2016;**75**:40-6. [PMID: 27005575]

Moher 2009

Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, The PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and metaanalyses: The PRISMA Statement. *BMJ* 2009;**339**:2535.

Moshtagh 2020

Moshtagh M, Amiri R. Role of zinc supplementation in the improvement of acute respiratory infections among Iranian children: a systematic review. *Tanaffos* 2020;**19**(1):1-9.

Musekiwa 2016

Musekiwa D, Manda SOM, Mwambi HG, Chen D. Meta-analysis of effect sizes reported at multiple time points using general linear mixed model. *PLOS ONE* 2016;**11**(10):e0164898.

Prasad 2020

Prasad AS. Lessons learned from experimental human model of zinc deficiency. *Journal of Immunology Research* 2020;**2020**:9207279. [PMID: 32411807]

R Core Team 2021 [Computer program]

R Foundation for Statistical Computing R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Core Team, Version

Table 1. 'Characteristics of included studies' table template

ADDITIONAL TABLES

4.1.1. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing, 2021. Available at www.R-project.org.

Read 2019

Read SA, Obeid S, Ahlenstiel C, Ahlenstiel G. The role of zinc in antiviral immunity. *Advances in Nutritional Research* 2019;**10**(4):696-710.

RevMan Web 2020 [Computer program]

The Cochrane Collaboration Review Manager Web (RevMan Web). Version 1.22.0. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2020. Available at revman.cochrane.org.

Rink 2000

Rink L, Gabriel P. Zinc and the immune system. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* 2000;**59**(4):541-52. [PMID: 11115789]

Science 2012

Science M, Johnstone J, Roth DE, Guyatt G, Loeb M. Zinc for the treatment of the common cold: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *Canadian Medical Association Journal (CMAJ)* 2012;**184**(10):E551-61.

Sera 2019

Sera F, Armstrong B, Blangiardo M, Gasparrina A. An extended mixed-effects framework for meta-analysis. *Statistics in Medicine* 2019;**38**:5429–44.

Singh 2015

Singh M, Das RR. WITHDRAWN: Zinc for the common cold. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2015, Issue 4. Art. No: CD001364. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001364.pub5]

Wang 2020

Wang MX, Win SS, Pang J. Zinc supplementation reduces common cold duration among healthy adults: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials with micronutrients supplementation. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 2020;**103**(1):86-99.

Witek 2015

Witek TJ, Ramsey DL, Carr AN, Riker DK. The natural history of community-acquired common colds symptoms assessed over 4-years. *Rhinology* 2015;**53**(1):81-8. [PMID: 25756083]

Methods	Study design (e.g. parallel randomised controlled trial (RCT), cross-over RCT, cluster-RCT) Study duration: date of first recruitment to last follow-up
Participants	Inclusion criteria Setting: <i>e.g. outpatient, inpatient, multicentre, national/international</i> Country: <i>list all countries</i> Relevant health status: Number: treatment (N = x); control (N = x) Age (mean, standard deviation (SD)/median, range) Treatment group: Control group:

Zinc for prevention and treatment of the common cold (Protocol)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Any other relevant info, such as comorbidities Exclusion criteria
Treatment group
Intervention
Dose, duration, frequency, administration
Other relevant info
Control group Intervention (e.g. placebo, no treatment)
Dose, duration, frequency, administration
Other relevant info
Primary outcomes
<list></list>
Secondary outcomes
<list></list>
Note: we will describe the methods used to measure the outcomes and include the range and direc-
tion of outcomes when this is not obvious.
Declaration of interest:
Funding source:
Contact with study authors for additional information: Other:

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. MEDLINE search strategy

(zinc[tiab] OR zn[tiab] OR zinc[mesh] OR "zinc compounds"[mesh] OR "zinc acetate"[mesh])

AND

(common cold*[tiab] OR rhinovirus*[tiab] OR rhinitis[tiab] OR coryza[tiab] OR catarrh[tiab] OR upper respiratory infection*[tiab] OR uri[tiab] OR uri[tiab] OR uri[tiab] OR upper airway infection*[tiab] OR cold virus*[tiab] OR colds[tiab] OR "common cold"[mesh] OR "rhinovirus"[mesh] OR "rhinitis"[mesh] OR "respiratory tract infections"[mesh])

AND

((randomized controlled trial[pt] OR controlled clinical trial[pt] OR randomized[tiab] OR placebo[tiab] OR clinical trials as topic[mesh: noexp] OR randomly[tiab] OR trial[ti])

NOT

(Animals[mh] NOT humans[mh]))

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

LSW, CH, MK, SN, AGS, and EL drafted the protocol.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

L Susan Wieland: reports Funding of Cochrane Complementary Medicine from the US National Institutes of Health, National Center for Complementary and Alternative Medicine, R24 AT001293; paid to institution.

Candyce Hamel: reports that work in this review was part of their full-time job at an academic institution. The funds did not go to them personally, but rather to Ottawa Hospital Research Institute for salary recovery.

Zinc for prevention and treatment of the common cold (Protocol) Copyright © 2021 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Menelaos Konstantinidis: reports being a Statistical Editor for Cochrane Acute Respiratory Infections Group, but had no role in the editorial process of this review.

Sahar Nourouzpour: declares no conflict of interest.

Andrea G Shipper: declares no conflict of interest.

Elizabeth Lipski: declares no conflict of interest.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• No sources of support provided

External sources

• National Institutes of Health, USA

Research reported in this publication was supported by the National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health of the National Institutes of Health under award number R24 AT001293. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.